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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

DEBORAH A. HORNYAK,
Plaintiff, No. 3:18¢v-1950(SRU)

V.
ANDREW SAUL, Commissioner of

Social Security,
Defendant

RULING ON CROSSMOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS

In this Social Security appedbeborah Hornyak (“Hornyaknoves to reverse the
decision by the Social Security Administration (“SSA”) denyiegdiaim for disability
insurance begfits or, in the alternative, temand the case for additionabceedings. Mot. to
Reverse, Doc. No. 14The Commissioner of the Social Security Administration
(“Commissioner”) moves to affirm the decision. Mot. to Affirm, Doc. No. 15. For themnsas
set forth below, Hornyak Motion to Reverse (doc. no. 14)granted andthe Commissioner’s

Motion to Affirm (doc. no. 15) islenied.

Standard of Review

The SSA follows a fivestep process to evaluate disability clairgglian v. Astrue708
F.3d 409, 417 (2d Cir. 2013) (per curiantrirst, the Commissioner determines whether the
claimant currently engages‘isubstantial gainful activity."Greek v. Colvin802 F.3d 370, 373
n.2 (2d Cir. 2015) (per curiam) (citing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 404.1520(b)). Second, if the claimant is not

working, the Commissioner determines whether the claimant hagwaere’ impairment,” i.e.,

! The case was originally captioned “Deborah Hornyak v. Commissioner of Social s&c8iitce the filing of the
case, Andrew Saul has been appointed the Commissioner of Social Security.
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an impairment that limits his or her ability to do waetated activities (physical or mentalq.
(citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(c), 404.1521). Third, if the claimaesdave a severe
impairment, the Commissioner determines whether the impairment is consiperes
disabling” under SSA regulationgd. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(d), 404.1525, 404.1526). If
the impairment is not per se disabling, then, before proceeding to step four, the Commissioner
determines the claimant’sesidual functional capacity” based ‘tall the relevant medical and
other evidence of record.fd. (citing 20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(a)(4), (e), 404.1545(aResidual
functional capacityis defined aswhat the claimant can still do despite the limitations imposed
by his [or her] impairment.1d. Fourth, the Commissioner decides whether the claimant’s
residual functional capacity allows him or her to return to “past relevant witk(titing 20
C.F.R. 88 404.1520(e), (f), 404.1560(b)). Fifth, if the claimant cannot perform past relevant
work, the Commissioner determinebased on the claimant’s residual functional capacity,”
whether the claimant can dother work existing in significant numbers in the national
economy.” Id. (20 C.F.R. 88 404.1520(g), 404.1560(b)). The process is “sequential,” meaning
that a petitioner will be judged disabled only if he or she satisfies all five criteeruid.

The claimant bears the ultimate tean to prove that he or she was disabled “throughout
the period for which benefits are sought,” as well as the burden of proof in tHedirsteps of
the inquiry. Id. at 374 (citing 20 C.F.R. § 404.1512(Bglian 708 F.3d at 418. If the claimant
passes the first four steps, however, there isratéd burden shift” to the Commissioner at step
five. Poupore v. Astrues66 F.3d 303, 306 (2d Cir. 2009) (per curiam). At step five, the
Commissioner need only show th#tére is work in the nationatenomy that the claimant can

do; he need not provide additional evidence of the claimant’s residual functionatyaplalci



In reviewing a decision by the Commissioner, | condugil@riary review” of the
administrative record but do not decike novonvhether a claimant is disableBrault v. Soc.
Sec. Admin., Comn)’683 F.3d 443, 447 (2d Cir. 2012) (per curiasee Mongeur v. Heckler
722 F.2d 1033, 1038 (2d Cir. 1983) (per curiam) (“[T]he reviewing court is required to examine
the entire record, oluding contradictory evidence and evidence from which conflicting
inferences can be drawn.”). | may reverse the Commissioner’s de@signf it is based upon
legal error or if the factual findings are not supported by substantial evidence@cditeas a
whole.” Greek 802 F.3d at 374-75. Theubstantial evidence” standard iery deferential,”
but it requires fore than a mere scintillaBrault, 683 F.3d at 447-48. Rather, substantial
evidence meartssuch relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to
support a conclusion.”Greek 802 F.3d at 375. Unless the Commissioner relied on an incorrect
interpretation of the law/[{lf there is substantial evidence to support the determination, it must

be upheld.”Selian 708 F.3d at 417.

1. Facts

Hornyak applied for Socialeégurity Disability Insurance“SSDI”) benefits on December
9, 2015.PI's Stmt. of FactsDoc. No. 14-2at 1 She allegeslisability as of October 5, 2012
due to: sarcoidosjerythromelalgia; periphial neuropathy; sensory defect; inflammatory
neuropathy; small fiber neuropathy; and fibromyalgia. R. at 92. As set forth more fully below,
Hornyak’sapplication was denied at each level of revi&thenow seeks an order reversing the

decision or in the alternative, remanding for additional proceedings.

A. Medical History

In 2010, Hornyakvasdiagnosed with pulmonary sarcoidosis and Lofgren’s syndrome.
PI's Stmt. of Factat 1. She began treatment with Dr. Harjinder Chowdhary (“Dr. Chowdhary”),
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a rheumatologist at Backus Hospital in Norwich, Connecticut. R. at 344. Dusingtial
consultation with Hornyak on March 10, 2010, Dr. Chowdhary noted that she had “painful
bumps on the left leg” and “swelling” on both ankles. R. 358-59. Dr. Chowdhary continued
treatingHornyak’s ankle and leg pain. R. 350. During a June 29, 2010 visit, Dr. Chowdhary
noted that Hornyak was “doing better than before,” Btitl [had] swelling in her feet and
ankles,” which made her fedlery uncomfortable.” R. at 342. Dr. Chowdhary also noted that
Hornyak had “significant pitting edema” in both legs and ordered a CT scan of her chest and
abdomen.ld.

On February 26, 2012, a CT scan revealed that Hornyak hadrggsinghodularity of
the lung parenchyma” and “mild pleural changes.” R. at 333. She returned to Dr. Chowdhary on

September 21, 2012, with symptoms of “pain all over her body,” “sharp pain in the neck,” and
“occasional pain in the back, which goes to the left thigh.” R. at B85Chowdhary
recommended-xays of the back and neekd opined thatanxiety and stress” wefeausing
fiboromyalgia-like symptoms.”d.

That day, Hornyak was taken forays R. at 32930. A cervical xray revealed
“[m]inor degenerative disk changed at€%.” R. at 329. A lumbar xay revealed severisc
spacenarrowing at L5-S1, with vacuum phenomenon, mild endplate spurring, slight disc space
narrowing at L3k5 levels, and advanced degenerative disc disease@LLR. at 330. On June
14, 2013, Hornyak returned to Dr. Chowdhary for a follow-up. R. at 456. During that visit, he
noted that Hornyak was “doing a little better than before,” but congdaia“burning pain in
the hands along with redness in the fingeild.” Dr. Chowdhary commented that Hornysak

extremities were weak and that her hands Wrexd” and “painful.” Id. at 457. During a

physical exam on February 24, 2015, Hornyak showed soft tissue discomfort throughout her



body. R. at 438. Although Hornyak’s sarcoidosis seemed to be in remission, Dr. Chowdhary
noted that she had “18 out of 18 tender pointd.” At follow-up visits withDr. Chowdhary on

March 19, and April 13, 2015, Hornyak reported symptoms of whole-body pain accompanied by
aburning sensation, and redness and pain in her hands ané®Fsebtmt. of Facts at 2 (citing

R. at 446, 452). Dr. Chowdhary referred Hornyak to Dr. David Tinklepauyh (“

Tinklepaugh”), a neurologist in Norwich, Connecticut. R. at 413, 439.

Dr. Tinklepaugh evaluated Hornyak on April 27, 2015. R. at 412. During the visit,
Hornyak reported worsening episodes of burning hand and foot pain, and numbness, pain and
redness radiating from her forearms to her fingertips. R. at 413. Dr. Tinklepaugh noted that her
hands werébrightly red but not swollen.” R. at 416. Although her pain was “quite severe and
[could] last for hours,” Hornyak was “able to stand without difficulty.” R. at 413, 416. Based on
the assessment, Dr. Tinklepaugh concluded that Hornyak’s presentation was conglstent wi
erythromelalgia. R. at 416.

On July 2, 2015, Hornyak returned to Dr. ChowdHarya follow-up visit. R. at 460.
Hornyak “still complain[ed] of pain all [over] the body from head to toe and shehstd] [a]
burning sensation in the hands and feet.” R. at 460. She had no limitation of motion on her
hands but had swelling around her ankles and the loss of arch in the foot. R. at 463.

Hornyak was referred to Dr. Kenneth Gorson (“Dr. Gorsoatjeurologist att.
Elizabeth Medical Center in Massachusetts, on September 4, P0$5tmt. of Factat 3
(citing R. at 407). Dr. Gorson noted that Hornyak’s symptoms of sarcoidosis included a chronic
hacking cough, extreme fatigue from insomnia, and delayed healing. R. at 407. Regarding
Hornyak’s neuropathic complaints, Dr. Gorson reported that Hornyak had “developed a chronic

neuropathic pain characterized mostly as mimg sensation that at timesiigolerable, and the



redness and swelling have now been more of a constant abnormality with fluctuation in
intensity.” Id. He also noted that Hornyakdd to leave work as an office naayer for 20 years
because she [could] no longer type, but interestingly [found] that she can toleratgiogtR.

at 408. Dr. Gorson then examined Hornyak and reported that sheedaahtl swollen feet” and
that“[h]er toes [werepwollen like sausagestd. In addition, there was “slight swelling and
erythema in [her] fingertips” in both of her handd. Hornyak alsd'had trouble walking on her
heels and toes due to paifdd. Dr. Gorson confirmed that Hornyak had erythromelalgia, likely
caused by her sarcoidosis. R. at 408—(0he"has the absolutely classic clinical pattern of
episodic swelling, erythema and horrendous pain lasting minutes to hours to days.” R. at 408.

Hornyak returned to Dr. Tinklepaugh on January 8, 20H6s physical exam revealed
distal sensation ks. R. at 636. “She [could not] feel cold temperature in either hand and it
[was] diminished in the distal portions of her forearms . . . . Sensation [was]es#inpthough
diminished.” R at 639.Dr. Tinklepaugh opined thaftflecauseof the severity of her symptoms
and the severe loss of quality of life . . . the issue of treating for potential sarcoid lseoul
revisited.” Id.

Due to sudden “onset back pain,” Hornyak underwent an MRI of the lumbar spine on
January 14, 2016. .Rt 557. The MRIshowed disc desiccation at1S1, with near complete
loss of disc height and the presence of a 1.8 centimeter epidural mass along ther postégit
aspect of the L5 vertebra extending to the lateral readssh was a largextruded disc

fragmentation of the L4-L5 disdd. In addition, the L5 nerveot was compressedd.

2The Commissioner notes that there is a discrepancy regardingewBetiiinklepaugh examined Hornyak on
January 8, 2016 or January 8, 20BgeDef's Stmt. of Facts, Doc. No. 16 at 5 n.4. AlthoiyhTinklepaugh’s
notes provide that the visit occurred January 8, 2015, his electronic signaturel iSldateary 8, 2016 12:13:45
PM.” R. at 640. The heading in the Progress Notes also provides that the visit occudaaduamy8, 2016.” R. at
636.



Hornyak was referred to Dr. Camille SalarBr; Salame”), aneurosurgeon, for
evaluation of symptoms of back pain and radiating leg. pBlis Stmt of Factsat 5(citing R. at
541-57). An xray revealed moderatiegenerative disc disease at&bwith no fracture or
bone destruction. R. at 549. Hornyak reported using a cane due to her left leg pain. R. at 580.
During a January 18, 2016 consultation, Dr. Salame noted that Horeyiagignificant
numbness and tingling in the left foot and her worst symptoms now were localized to the left
foot area.” Id. Hornyak’s“gait was extremely antalgicR. at 581. She had difficulty with
range of motion in her lower back and “difficulty standing on her left hadl."Dr. Salame
diagnosed Hornyak withsignificant leftsided sciaticacaused bya“rupturedherniated nucleus
pulposus at L4-L5.”1d. He recommendgsurgery.ld.

Accordingly, on January 29, 2016 Hornyak underwent &6 discectomy and L5
laminectomy R. at 577. Two weeks later, Hornyak followed up with Dr. Salame who opined
that Hornyak was “coming along very well.” R. at 56%2h& [hadhoticed improvement with
some residual numbness in [her] left foold.

On May 10, 2016, Dr. Michelle Holmesjf. Holmes”)with Disability Determination
Services‘(DDS”) conduced a medical evaluatioR. at 112. She noted that Hornyak’s sciatica
improved after surgergind that Hornyak retainedresiduafunctional capacity for a narrow
range of light work. R. at 26, 113.

On June 7, 2016, Hornyak had an acute five-day flare up of back symptoms, which
resulted in an emergency room visit. R. at 609. The examining practitioner noted that Hornyak
reported‘lower back pain radiating across [her] lower back and hips” that began after she carried
groceries into her house. R. at 609. During the visit, Hornyak “denie[d] any numbness tingling

or weakness” and that hgrain had been controlled” prior to the flare ug. A week later,



Hornyak was diagnosed with anxiety by her primary care provider, Melanie Hopkins, a
physicians assistant. PI's Stmt. of Facts at 6 (citing R. at 590). Hornyak was prescribed Xanax.
Def's Stmt. of Facts at 8.

Hornyak was seen by Dr. Tinklepaugh for another follow-up appointment on August 23,
2016. R. at 632. Although Hornyak “had édairly well for a few months” she recently
“developed paresthesias” in her left fodd. “Now in addition to the numbness and tingling in
her hand . . . the entire distal portion of the left foot feels nurith."Dr. Tinklepaugh also
examined Hornyak’s neck and face. “Towards the end of our visit, she mentioned het face fel
very hot and indeed she began to develop red discoloration of her entire face and upper part of
her neck.” R. at 634. Dr. Tinklepaugh also noted, however, that despite her symptoms Hornyak
was“able to stand without difficulty.” R. at 633-e referred Hornyak for another cervid4RlI
to address her symptoms. R. at 631.

The MRIconducted on August 25, 2016 revealed a left paracentral disc herniation at C-
5-6, whichmildly flattened the ventral aspect of igak’s cervical cord without significant
myelopathic cord changdd. On October 17, 2016, Hornyak followed up with Dr. Chowdhary.
R. at 644. Although there was “some thinning of numbness from the back mftthieft to the
right ankle,” Hornyak reportecchronic pain. . . all over [her] body.”ld. Dr. Chowdhary noted
that she had “difficulty walking” and had “swelling in the ankles, more so at the end of the day.”
Id. His physical exam showed tenderness in “18 out of 18” soft tissue trigger poin{s]but “
edema” in her extremitieRR. at 646. Dr. Chowdhary opined that her right leg pain may have
been caused by her back issues. R. at 647. He referred Hornyak to Dr. John P&ggioli (*

Paggioli”) for pain management and for consideration for a lumbar epidural injeédion



Hornyak was seen by Dr. Paggioli @atober25, 2016. R. at 596-97. He observed that
Hornyak’s “hands and fingers were swollen, red, tender, and very hot” anfé&ewere tender
but not swollen.” R. at 597. Dr. Paggioli also noted that her gait was normal and that her
bilateral motor stretas throughoutld. He concluded that Hornyak hagrythromelalgia

secondary to sarcoid” and prescribed her lidocaine ointpantmedication Id.

B. Procedural History

Hornyak applied for SSDI benefits on December 9, 2015, asserting that she wasl disable
with sarcoidosis; erythromelalgia; peripheral neuropathy; sensory defect; inftargma
neuropathy; small fiber neuropathy; and fiboromyealkgnce Octobeb, 2012. R. at 92The SSA
denied Hornyak’s claim on February 9, 2016. R. at 100. Hornyak sagghtsideration, but
the SSA adhered to its origindécision R. at 125. Hornyak thereafter requested a hearing,
which was held on September 21, 2017, before Administrative Law Judge John Athetta (*
ALJ"). R. at 35.

At the hearing, Hornyallescribedat length the pain that she experienc8tie testified
thather neurological issuegaffect both[her] hands, and [her] feet, causing it to be very difficult
to walk, very difficult to us¢her] hands . . . The painis constant.” R. at 48. First, the ALJ
asked Hornyak to describe the problems with her fieet Hornyak stated that hefeet[] swell
uncontrollably, sometimes to the point of the skin splittiignakes it impossible to put any
pressure on them. They turn black and blue. They turn red, white. They get either burning hot,
or freezing cold.[She]lose[s] feeling in [her] toes.Id. She expressed that her symptoms
began around 2010 and have worsened over time. R. at 49. Hornystatddahat she

experiencesflare-ups” in her feet thabccur“[p]robably every week.” Id. Each‘flare-up” can



last“anywhere from a hal&n-hour to two weeks.”ld. When Hornyak’s feet swell, she has
difficulty walking because she stumbles and loses “the feeling in [her] feett’5R.

The ALJ also asked Hornyak to describe the issues she has with her hands. Bhat 50.
testified thather neurological problems cause her hands to shake and make her fingertips go
numb. Id. Shestated that the redness and swelling in her hands make it impossible for her to
type, hold a pen, or deal with paper or monkl. She also explained that her left hand
sometimes tremors uncontrollabliR. at 55. She expressed that her hand iszaépretty
constant.”R. at65. Due to her symptoms, Hornyak testified that she stopped working as an
office manager on October 2, 2015. R. at 47. “I couldn’t do the typing. | couldn’t do the
walking. | couldn’t do the detailed concentration work that my job requirketl.”

Regarding her joinpain, Hornyak testified that she feels p&f over” her body due to
herfibromyalgia and sarcoidosis. R. at 61. She explained that she had a disc removed in her
lower backand that her spine may have weakened from the sarcoidosis. R. at 62. Hornyak
noted that her issues with swelling and numbness in her left leg continued after émg. 4drg
In addition, she testified that he Hdiscsin her neck. R. at 63. Hornyak also suffers from
chronic insomnia. R. at 64. She explained that she sleeps “[p]robably four to five hours a day.”
Id. Lastly, Hornyakstated thashe takes medication for anxiety, depression, and panic attacks,
in addition to Neurontin for pain. R. at 51-52.

The ALJ next heard testimony from Vocational Expe¥t") Susan Gaudet Gaudet”).

The ALJ first asked Gaud&t describe and analyze Hornyak’s prior wokaudetestified that
Hornyak “was an office manager, DOT 219.362-010, with an SVP of four, and a light physical
demand level as customarily performed.” R. at 8Be ALJ then aslkeGaudet to consider a

hypothetical individual who (i) was of the same age, education, and experience as Hai)nyak; (i
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could perform work at the light exertional level; (iii) could occasionally clinnbypsaand stairs;
(iv) could never climb ladders, ropes,scaffolds (v) could occasionally balance, stoop, knell,
crouch, and crawl; (vi) could never work at unprotected heights; (vii) could never wark wit
moving mechanical parts; (viipust avoid concentrated exposure to dusts, odors, fumes, and
other pulmonary irritants; (ix) must avoid concentrated exposure to extreme heat; t(ayvods
concentrated exposure to vibration; and (xi) must avoid concentrated exposure to working in an
environment having a noise level greater than moderate noise. R.Htéidthe ALJ asked
whether such an individual coutitherperform Hornyak’s past work or work in the national
economy. R. at 71Gaudetresponded that such an individual could perform past work and
could also work as a “linen grader,” price marker,” and astorage facility rental clerk.” R. at
71-72.

For the second hypothetical, the ALJ ask&aidetto consider the individual from
hypothetical one, but to include the additional limitatiom &it, stand, walk optin,” where the
hypothetical person had the option %o for up to five minutes after every 15 minutes of
standing” and “the option to sit for up to five minutes after every 15 minutes of walking.” R. at
75. Gaudettestified thatsuch an individual would not be capable of performing Hornyak’s past
work. Id. Moreover, Gaudet testified that under second hypothetical, the only job that exists in
the national economig the storage facility rental clergosition. R. at 76.

Next, the ALJ askedhether there were any jobs available if the individual from
hypothetical two was limited to sedentary work. R. at 77-G8udefnitially identified only
one sedentary job, g@&ara mutual ticket checker.” R. at 78he later clarified that thetorage

facility rental clerkposition would also be available at the sedentary level. R. at 82.
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The ALJ then aske@audetto consider a third hypothetical. The individual would have
all of the limitations of the second hypothetical but could frequently feel and fintiebath
hands. R. at 79Gaudetinitially testified that such a person would be capable of performing
Hornyak’s past workld. After further discussion with the ALGaudeftclarified that Hornyak’s
past work could not be performed under those limitations. R. at 81. Next, the ALJ asked if the
individual from hypothetical three could perform any jobs available in the national egohdm
Gaudetinitially stated that therdy two jobs available would b&torage facility rental cler&nd
laundry folder. R. at 82. After following up with the Alaudetamended her answer, stating
that the'laundry folder” position would benavailable becausenost employers . . . are not
going to allow a sit, stand option that [was] offered in hypothetical number two.” R. &t 83.
addition,Gaudetestified that under hypothetical three there would be no jobs in the national
economy at the sedentary level. R. at 84.

The ALJ then offered a fourth hypothetical, incorporating the limitations from
hypothetical three, but eliminating the sit, stand option. R. aG2udettestified that the only
available job under that hypothetiealan addresserd. The ALJ then sked whether there
were any jobs in the national econothwt fit within hypothetical three or four that were either
semiskilled or skilled R. at 86—87 Gaudettestifiedthat the job of receptionist would meet
those standards. R. at 87. When questioned further by th&saudietretracted her answer and
stated that semiskilled or skilled jobs weravailable R. at 86-87.

Finally, Gaudetwas examined by Hornyak’s counsel Kerin Woods (“Attorney Woods”").
Attorney Woods followed up regarding the jobs identified under hypothetical one: linen grader,
price maker, and storage facility rental clerk. R. at 88-89. With respect to thosetjobs\A

Woodsaskedf there wasany employer tolerance for off-task behavior outside of thalusu
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breaks offered during the morning and afternoon. R. atidetestifiedthatemployer
tolerance for oftask behavior is 10% of the workdalgd. Attorney Woods also asked about
employer tolerance for absenteeisid. Gaudetstated that[a]nything greater than one absence
per month . . . .[w]ould not be toleratedd. Lastly,Gaudetestifiedthat if fingering and
handling with both handsere reduced toccasional, rather than frequent, the jobs of storage

facility retail clerk ancaddresser would not l@vailable R. at 88—89.

C. The ALJ’'s Decision

On October 13, 2017, the ALJ issued an unfavorable decision, concluding that Hornyak
had not been disabled as of December 9, 2015 and denying benefits. R. at 29.

At the firststep of the five-prong inquiry, the ALJ found that Hornyak had not engaged in
substantial gainful activity sind@ctober 5, 2012. R. at 20.

At the second step, the ALJ determined that Hornyak had the following severe
impairmentsdegenerative disc disease of the lumbar spine (spatsdiscectomy); idiopathic
neuropathy; fiboromyalgia; erythromelalgia; sarcoidosis and left cubital tunnel syndtdme
With respect to those conditions, the ALJ concluded that thigpificantly limited [Hornyaks]
physicalabilities to perform basiwork activities! Id. The ALJ did not consider Hornyak’s
obesity and degenerative disc disease of the cervical spined¢wodye smpairmentsld.

At the third step, the ALfeldthatHornyak’'simpairments were ngier se disabling
because they were not severe enough to meet the criteria of an impairradni 12 C.F.R.
part 404, subpart P, Appendix Id. In reaching that conclusion, the ALJ acknowledted
Hornyak underwent spinal surgery in January 2016 to address her degeneratiisedse of
the lumbar spine. R. at 21. Nonetheless, the ALJ noted that Hornyak was aloidtddte

effectively without using an assisting de¥ such as a cane [or] walkendd. The ALJ also
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stated thaHornyak’s “physical examinations have been generally benign and have generally
demonstrated her to have a natmait” Id. (internal citations omitted).Therefore, the ALJ
concluded that Hornyak@egenerative disgiseasée[was] not listing level. 1d.

Regarding heerythromelalgia, the ALJ stated trethough Hornyak complained of
“burning, swelling, and numbness in her feet and hanls,fecord reflects that her idiopathic
erythromelalgiavas primarily in her handdd. Moreover, the ALJ noted that Hornyak’s
sarcoidosis, according to a report from Dr. Chowhary, “[had] been under control&fter
consicering the evidencgom Hornyaks medical recals, the ALJ adopted Dr. Holmes’ opinion
that Hornyaks impairments were not atlisting level. Id. Accordingly, the ALJ gz “great
weight” to Dr. Holmes’ option that Hornyakimpairments [did] not meet, or medically equal,
the requirements of any impairmetisted.” Id.

At step four, te ALJ determined Hornyag&tesidual functional capacity RFC’) after
considering the entire recordd. The ALJ determined th&tornyak could perform light work as
defined in 20 CFR 88§ 404.1567(b)vith the following exceptionsshe (1)have the option to sit
for up to five minutes after every 15 minutes of standing or walking; (2) can frequently finger
and feel with her bilateral hand8) can occasionally climb ramps and stairs; (4) can never
climb ladders, ropes or scaffolds; (5) could occasionally balance, stoop, kneel, crouchyénd c
(6) could not work at unprotected heights; (7) could not wotk moving mechanical parts;)8

must avoid concentrad exposure to dust, odors, fumes, and other pulmonary irritaptsu&

3 Light work is defined as:work [that] involves lifting no more than 20 pounds at a time with frequent lifting or
carrying of objects weighing up to 10 poundsren though the weight lifted may be very little, a job is in this
category when it requires a good deal of walking or standing, or when it involves sittingfrif@stime with some
pushing and pulling of arror leg controls.To be considered capable of performing a full or wide range of light
work, you must have the ability to do substantially all of these activitiessmameone can do light work, we
determine that he or she can also do sedentary worlgsuthiere are additional limiting factors such as loss of fine
dexterity or inability to sit for long periods of time20 C.F.R § 404.1567(b).
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avoid exposure to extreme heat and vibration; angnil&t avoid concentrated exposure to a
working environment having a noise level greater than moderate noise. R. at 21-22.

The ALJ reasoned thatiHe overall evidence of recodibes not generally support
[Hornyak’s] statements regarding having such severe symptoms and such severe functiona
limitations . . . [Hornyals] allegations of severe symptoms and functional limitations are
significantly out of proportion with the symptoms, signs and limitations demonstrated in the
record’ R. at 23. To support that conclusion, the ALJ reviewed medical recaadimg to
Hornyak’s degenerative disc disease and neuropathy. The ALJ concluded that although Hornyak
testified that sheontinued to experience pain and numbness in her left foot following her
surgery, Dr. Salame’s February 12, 2016 notes provide that Hornyak did very wesllippesty
and demonstrateda’hormal gait and statio” R. at 24. Moreover, a June 7, 2016 visit with Dr.
Sdame revealed that Hornyak haalofmal range of motion and normal strength in her legs.”
The ALJ reasoned that those “benign” findings support the conclusion that Horeyaks a
work capaiy despite her impairments.id.

Regarding Hornyak’s sarcoidosis and fiboromyalgia, the ALJ cited Horsiyaddical
records from an April 13, 2015 visit at New England Rheumatology, where Hornyak complained
of a burning pain in her hands along with some redngssit 24. Despite those complaints, the
ALJ highlighted that her “bloodwork [was] normal except for low vitamin D levels, and
[Hornyak] had a fairly benign physical examinationd. In addition, the ALJ relied on notes
from Dr. Gorsons September 4, 2015 visit. During that consultation, Hornyak complained of
numbness in her hands and fingers that limited her ability to hold and grasp objects. R. at 25.
The ALJ noted, however, that Hornyaikdicated that she could still tolerate crocheting, which

demonstrate[d] that she retains a relatively high level of functioning with her hanfisgerd.”
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Id. Furthermore, the ALJ noted that after an October 17, 2016Msithowdhay opined that
Hornyak’s sarcoidosis wasihider controfl, despite the fact that shdémonstrated 18 out of 18
total tender points.d.

The ALJ also reviewed medical recorggarding Hornyals erythromelalgia The ALJ
acknowledged Hornyak’s history of idiopathic erythromelalgia primarily involving her hands,
which causd Hornyak to complain of “burning, swelling, and numbness in her feet and hands.”
Id. Hornyak's physical exam on January 8, 2016 revealed “erythematous hands, bilaterally, and
mild edematous handsld. Despite that finding, the ALJ noted that during the visit, Hornyak
“had a normal gait and was able to stand withificulty.” Id. Moreover, although Hornyak
“had some distal sensation loss and could not feel cold temperature in eitheirand,”
Tinklepaugh noted that 8r sensation was still preséntd.

In reaching the conclusion that Hornyak could perform “light work,” the ALJ assigned
“little weight’ to Mark Mancusos (“Mancusd) assessment of Hornyak’'s RF@.

[Mancuso] a single decision maker . . . determined[H@atnyak] retains &n] [RFC] for

a narrow range dfght work with postural and environmental limitations . However, |

find that [Hornyaks] impairments are more limiting than assedsg{Mancuso]. | note

that [Mancuso] is not an acceptable meldscairce under the Commissiorser’
regulations, and he never actually observed [Horhyak
R. at 5-26. (internal citations omitted)In addition, the ALJ assignegdrtialweight” to Dr.
Holmes’ assessment of HornyalRFC. R. at 26. I'find that [Hornyaks] impairmentsre
more limiting than assessed by [Dr. Holrheknote that Dr. Holmes nevectually observedr
examinedHornyak] and did not consider the new evidemeeeivednto the recordifterthe
reconsideratioleterminatiori. Id.

At the faurth step, the ALJ found that Hornyak was unable to perform any past relevant

work. R.ld.
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At the fifth and final step, the ALJ determiretbased on HornyakRFC, age,
education, prior work experience, aBdudets testimony that “there are jobs that exist in
significant numbers in the national economy that [Hornyak] can perform.” R. at 27.
Specifically, the ALXoncluded that Hornyak could perform the jdlstmrage facility rental
clerk, which is described in the @ionary of Occupational Title§DOT”) as semiskilled light
work. R. at 28. Gaudet testified that there are approximately 40,000 such positions in the
national economyld. ALJ therefore codluded that Hornyak was not disabled from October 5,

2012 through the date of the decisidd.

IIl.  Discussion

On appeal, Hornyak gnes that(1) the ALJ erred by failing to designate her cervical
condition and bilateral hand tremas severe impairmest step two(2) the ALJ erred in
evaluating her subjective symptoms, (3) the ALJ erred in formulating her RFC, @hd &1)J
erred in relyig onGaudets testimony. See generallyMem in Support of Mot. to Reverse
(“PI's Mem”), Doc. No. 14-1.

The Commissioner counters tiia) the ALJ correctly evaluatddornyak’s impairments
at step two(2) the ALJ properly evaluated Hornyaksubjective allegationg3) the ALJs RFC
finding is supported by substantial evidence, andh@)Commssioner met his burden at step
five of the sequential evaluatiolkeeMem. in Supp. Mot. té\ffirm (“Def's Mem”), Doc. No.
15.

| address each argument below.

A. Did the ALH errby failing to classify Hornyak's cervical condition and bilateral hand
tremor as severe impairments?

Hornyak first argues that the Aledred asteptwo in finding that Hornyaks
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degenerative disc disease of the cervical spimteher bilateral hand tremors were not severe
impairments. She contends that tleerorat step twdhad ‘tipple effects for the rest of the
sequential evaluationPl's Mem at 3. In essence, Hornyak argues that by failing to account for
her physical limitations related to her cerVicandition and hand tremor aep twq the ALJ did

not incorporate all of her medical limitansinto her RFC when concluding that she could
perform light work with frequent fingering and handling.

At step two, an impairment is considered severe vitHegignificantly limits [a
claimants] physical or mental ability to do basic work activities.” 20 C.F.R. 8§ 416c920
Hornyak contends that there is dmpvidence in the recdito support a finding that her
degenerative disc disease of the cervical spia® a severe condition. She notes that on August
25, 2016, she underwent an MRI that showadrhall lef paracentral disc herniation which
mildly flattens the ventral aspect of the cervical cord to the left of themaidIR. at 631.

Additionally, Hornyak complained of pain, numbness, tingling, and burning in her arms
and handsluring medical visits R. at 514-15, 523, 537. At the hearing, Hornyak testified that
her bilateral hand tremors made it difficult for her to liflacarry objects. R. at 54-56.

Hornyak contends that, because the ALJ failed to consider those condsevesé’
impairments, Hornyak’s RFC finding was erroneo8gePl's Mem at 7.

In responsgthe Commissioner argues thle record does not support a finding that
either condition was a severe impartment. Regarding Hornyak’s cervical condition, the
Commissioner contends that the ALJ considered her diagnostic images, which showed that
Hornyak had mild degenerative changéthe cervical spine and a small herniated diSkeR.

at 20 (citing R. at 320, 329, 631yhe Commissioner argues that treatment notes from visits
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with Dr. Paggioli and Dr. Salame indicated thairnyak’s cervical spine was not tender and that
her rage of motion was adequate. DeMem at 4 (citing R. at 538, 553, 628).

With regard to her bilateral hand tremaitse Commissioner asserts that Hornyak’s
treatment notes did not mention that she had hand trentbrgt 5. [Hornyak] cites no medich
evidence showing that she had hand tremors, and instead cites only her own testimony . . . .
Similarly, [her] treatment notes do not indicate that she complained of tremdrs.”

After reviewing the record, | agree with the Commissiondrer& is substantial evidence
in the record to support a finding that Hornyak’s cervical condition and her hand tremors were
not severe. For example, the August 2016 MRI that Hornyak cites répatrtger disc
herniation only mildly” flattened hecervical cord. R. at 631. The MRI also reports that she
had normal cervicallignmentand “noprevertebrakoft tissue swelling. Id. A 2014 report
noted that only [m]ild degenerativehanges [were] seen att&, C5-6 and C6-7" along with
“[n]o fracturé and “[n]o prevertebral soft tissue swellifgR. at 320. During humerous Visits,
Hornyak denied having neck pain and was observed to have normal range of i8etioe.g.,

R. at637 (“Denies: headdes, neck pain, neck tenderngssée als®R. at 429 (“[n]eck: norml
appearance, range of motion.’Although Hornyak testified at the hearing that her neuropathies
“cause[d] [her] hands to shake,” her bilateral tremors were not higdlgn her medical

records. R. at 56. Therefore, | conclude that the ALJ did not err by failing to list H@nyak’
cervical condition and hartdemorsas seveximpairments.

Hornyakalsoargues that her RFC assessment is erroneous because the ALJ did not
consider her symptoms relating to her cervical condition and hand tremors. The ALJ, however
expresly stated in his decision thain“formulating [Hornyak’s] residual functional capacity,

[he] considered all of her impairments including her semwere impairments.R. at 20.
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Moreover, many of Hornyak’s symptoms from her cervical condition and hand tremoralscere
relatedto her sarcoidosis, neuropathy, amgthromelalgia Those impairments were considered
severeat step two.ld.

Because ALJ did not err in failing to list Hornyak’s cervical condition and hand tsemor

as severe impairmegitHornyak’s argument fails amémand is not warrantezh that ground.

B. Did the ALJ er in theevaluation of Hornyak's subjective symptoms?

Next, Hornyak egues that the ALJreed in concluding that Hornyak’s testimony
regarding her symptoms waconsistent with her medicetcords. “[Hornyak’s] testimony is,
in fact, very consistent with the medical records and objective diagnostic tgstar.
symptoms of significant swelling and redness in the arms, hands, legs and feetemave be
observed by multiple doctor$2hysical examination has confirmed decreased distal sensation in
her hands.”PI's Mem at 9 (internal citations omittedHornyak also contends that the ALJ
erred by failing to consider her excellent work history in assessing her credibiifyre“ALJ
failed to even mention, no less discuss, [Hornyak’s] strong and consecutive work history prior to
her alleged disability onset as pafthis credibility assessmehtld. at 11.

In response, the Commission assertsttiatALJ applied correct legal standards when
assessing Hornyak’s testimony regarding her symptofighe'ALJ carefully contrasted
[Hornyak’s] testimony with her treatment history, the treatment notes in the record, as well as
her activities, and properly found her allegations not entirely densiwith the record as a
whole.” Def's Mem at 8 (citing R. 22-25).

Social Security regulations outlingwao-step procestor evaluating symptomsuch as
pain. See @af v. Berryhill, 2019 WL 1237105, at *8 (D. Conn. Mar. 18, 201Bjxst, the ALJ

mustassesswhether the medical signs or laboratory findings show that a claimant has a
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medically determinable impairment that could reasonably beceeghéo produce the claimant’s
pain.” Id. (citing Cichocki v.Astrue 534 F. App’x 71, 75 (2d Cir. 2013)) (internal quotation
marks omitted) In doing so, thé&LJ mustevaluate all of the claimant&/mptomsand the
extent to whichthe claimant’'ssymptoms “can reasonably be accepted as consistent with the
objectivemedical evidence and other evidenc&&ed. (citing 20 C.F.R. 8 416.929(a)). The
ALJ “will consider all of [a claimant’s] statements about [lsgmptoms, such as pain, and any
description [her] medical sources or nonmedical sources may provide about how the symptoms
affect [het activities of daily living and [her] ability to work.”ld. (citing 20 C.F.R. 8
416.929(a)). The record must includgbfective medicagvidence from an acceptable medical
source” that indicates that a claimant has a medigadirment thatcould reasonably be
expected to produce the pain or other symptoms alleddd(titing 20 C.F.R. 8§ 416.929(a

If the ALJ determines that the first step is satisfiedpthghemust then evaluate the
“intensity and persistence” of the claimant’s symptoms in order to determinetéimé t® which
the claimant’s symptoms limit the claimant’s ability to wokee d. at 7 (internal citations
omitted). In undertaking that assessment, the ALJ must consider all of thblavevigence,
including objective medical evidence, from both medical and nonmedical solaceEhe ALJ,
however, may not reject a claimant’s subjective opinion regarding the intensity aistepees
of the pain %olely because the available objective medical evidence does not substantiate [her]
statements.” 20 C.F.R. § 416.929(c)(2).

Nonetheless, if the objective medical evidence does not suppafaimant’s
description of her symptoms, the ALJ “must consider the other evidence and make a finding on
the credibility of the individual's statementsGraf, 2019 WL 123710, at *7 (internal citations

omitted). Toward that end, the ALJ should consider the following: (1) the claimanitis “da
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activities;” (2)“[t]he location, duration, frequency, and intensity” of the claimant’s pain; (3)
“[p]recipitating and aggravating factors;” (4}Jhe type, dosage, effectiveness, and side effects
of any medication” taken to alleviate pain; {R]Jreatment, other than medication” received for
pain relief; (6) measures taken to relieve pain and other symptoms; afa]tf¥gr‘factors
concerning [the claimant’s] functional limitations and restrictions due to paimer ot
symptoms.”Id. (citing 20 C.F.R. § 416.929(c)(3)).

In deciding the ultimate question of whether the claimant is disabled, the ALJ must
evaluate the claimant’s subjective claims of gamrelation to the objective medical evidence
and other evidence.” 20 C.F.R. 8 416.929(c)(4). The ALJ must specifically consitethér
there are any inconsistencies in the evidence and the extent to which there ardliatg/ con
between [the claimant’s] statements and the rest of the evidence, incluéintajthant’s]
history, laboratory findings, and statements b [tlaimant’s] medical providers or other
sources concerning how [the] symptoms affect [the claimant].” 20 C.F.R. § 416.929{d)&1)
symptoms Will be determined to diminish [the claimant’s] capacity for basic work activities . . .
to the extent that [the claimant’s] alleged functional limitations and restrictieam®diymptoms,
such as pain, can reasonably be accepted as consistent with the objective mediua anidlie
other evidence."ld.

The ALJ’s determination “must contain specific reasons for the finding on cradibili
supported by the evidence in the case record, and must be sufficiently specific tdemaie c
the individual and to any subsequent reviewers the weight the [ALJ] gave to the individual's
statements and the reasons for thaight.” Cichockj 534 F. App’x at 76 (citingocial Security
Ruling 96-7p, 1996 WL 374186, at *2). Although “a single, conclusory statement” that the

claimant is not credible, or a mere recitation of the relevant factors, will naestifEmand is
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not required where ‘the evidence of record permits [the court] to glean theatatof an ALJ’s
decision[.]” Id. (citingMongeur 722 F.2d at 1040).

In his decision, the ALJ acknowledged that Horntestifiedthat she‘continue[d] to
have pain and numbness in [her] left leg and left foot” following her surgery. R. at 22. In
addition, Hornyé testifiedthat“she has trouble walking, especially when she has numbness and
sweling” in her feet and that shdasdifficulties [] car[ry]ling objects.” Id. The ALJ also
considered Hornyak’testimon detailing how her symptoms impadther daily activities.For
exampe, Hornyak testified that she “stopped going grocery shopping one month prior to the
hearing due to her pain condition . . . . [She] testified that she could stand for about 5 to 10
minutes before having to alternate positions.” R. atR28spite her testimonyhe ALJ
concluded that Hornyak’allegations df severe symptoms aridnctional limitationgwere]
significantly out of proportion with the symptoms, signs and limitations demonstrated in the
record,[which] undermire[d] the persuasiveness loér statements when she asserts such severe
functional limitations: 1d.

After reviewing the cited portions of the record, | conclude that the ALJ did not err in his
assessment of Hornyasymptoms. Hornyak’sisits with Dr.Salamefollowing surgeryreveal
that Hornyak back symptoms were improvir§ee, e.gR. at 541 (“Touch is present over both
feet and it is slightly decreased over the anterior foot. Her station and gait aed. norm
[Hornyak] is comfortable and appreciative oéttelief in her |& sciatica’). Although Hornyak
was admitted to the engancy room for back pain on June 7, 201&l&W-up visit with Dr.
Salame ordune 17, 2016 shaa diminished pain.See, e.g R. at 628 (“[Hornyak] seen at the

emergency room at [Backus] Hospital and was treated symptomatically . . . . [Sjtedées
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reviewed todayphowing no HNP. Degenerative changes were noted at L5-S1. No stenosis.
Indeed since then, her pain has dropped down from 9/10 to 4/10.”

Regarding heerythromelalgiaand sarcoidosis, the record supptmesALJ’s finding that
although hedistal sensatiowas diminished, Hornyak retained some intact sensation in her
hands. R. at 25. For example, during a January 8, 2016 visit with Dr. Tinklepaugh, he noted that
Hornyak’s sensation was still present, despite Horrsyalkdim that she could not feel with either
hand. R. at571.

It should be noted that with her eyes closed | asked her if she felt pressurepssieed

against the middle of her right index finger and she indicated she did not. | then moved

over to another finger and pressed tightly and she spontaneously said dhfeelitimat

even though | had naiskedner. This was replicated on the other hand. Sensation is still

present though diminished.

Id. As noted above, Hornyak’s sarcoidds#s remaned largely under controlSee, e.g R. at

436 (“[Hornyak] has history of sarcoidosis, but shaq beepdoing good.}). The ALJ

concluded that those records support a finding that Hornyak retains a work capacity despite he
impairments. R. at 25.

Hornyak also argues that the ALJ erred “in failing to condidernyak’s] excellent
work history in accessing her credibilityPl's Mem at 10. She citeRivera v. Schweiker,17
F.2d 719, 725 (2d Cir. 1983), for the proposition that “[a] claimant with a good work record is
entitled to substantial credibility when claiming an inability to work because of alitysabld.
at 10-11. In this case, she indicates that the ALJ failed to discuss her strong seclitioe
work history prior to her alleged disability onset as pattistredibility assessmengeePl's
Mem. at 11.

| find Hornyak’s argument unavailing. First, it is the role of Commissioner, not mine,

“to resolve evidentiary conflicts and to appraise the credibility of witnggseiiding with
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respect to theeverity of a claimant’s symptomsCichocki 534 F. App»at 75 (internal
citations omitted)see also Retrunti v. Dir., Office of Workers' Gop. Programs119 F.3d 1035,
1042 (2d Cir. 1997) (“Credibility findings of an ALJ are entitled to great deference aefbtieer
can be reversed only if they are ‘patently unreasonabl(etgrnal citations omitted).
Secondalthough the ALJ may consider a claimant’s strong work historglLdis
decision not to give a claimant’s work history controlling weight on the issue of ititgditmes
not constitute errorSee Legg v. Colvjib74 F. App’x 48, 50 (2d Cir. 2014)]I]t bears
emphasizing that work history is just one of many factors that the ALJ is instructed itlecams
weighing the credibility of claimant testimony.Id. (citing Schaal v. Apfell34 F.3d 496, 502
(2d Cir.1998)). In this case, although the ALJ did rederenceHornyak’s work history in the
decision, he questioned Hornyak extensively about her work record during the h&aeRy.at
43-48. In addition,“[a]n ALJ is not required to discuss all the evidence submitted, and [his]
failure to cite specific evidence does not indicate that it was not consid&eeBarringer v.
Comm’n of Social Securitg58 F. Supp. 2d 67, 79 (N.D.N.Y. 2005) (internal citatiomitted).

Therefore, | conclude that remand is not warranted on that ground.

C. Did the ALJ err informulatingHornyak’sRFC?

Next, Hornyak argues that the ALJ erred in his formulation of HorsyRKC.
Specifically, the Hornyak contends that the ALJ erred by (1) misconstruing her nredmals
and testimony, (2) failing to discuss portions of her medical rec@daPl's Mem. at 12—14.In
his decision, the ALJ noted that his RFC finding was based largely on the “benign” findings of
Hornyak’s treating physiciangzor examplethe ALJs conclusion that Hornyak retains a work

capacity despite her sarcoidosis and fiboromyalgia was based on Dr. Chowdbangsally
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benign findings.” R. at 24. “[Hornyakjas seen at New England Rheuatagy on April 13,

2015, and . . . had some complaints of burning pain in her hands along with some[mnefness
her fingersput [Hornyaks] bloodwork had been normal except for low vitamin D levels, and
[Hornyak] had a fairly benign physical examinatiorid. In her motion, Hornyak contends that
the ALJ ignored the rest of Dr. Chowdhary’s findings, which included a physical examination
where Hornyak reporteéd 8 out of 18 tender points.PI's Mem at 13 (citing R. at 458).

Hornyak asserts similar arguments concerning findings from Dr. Gorson and Dr. Tinglepaugh.
See id at 13-14.

In addition, Hornyak contends that the ALJ made his formulation on an incomplete
record. The ALJ failed, alspto discusst allthe medical records §br. Paggioli]. [He]
examinedHornyak]on October 25, 2016 and his examination shojlved to have swollen,
red, tender and very hot hands and fingers and foot and leg pain and swéllisgVlem at 14.

In response, the Commissioner assertstligaALJ"reviewed the record in detail,
including treatment notes from, Dr. Tinklepaugh, Dr. Chowdhary, Dr. Salame, and Dr. Gorson,
as wellas diagnostic imaging, and [Hornyaksubjective statements about her symptdms.
Def's Mem at 15 (citing R. 22—-26).

After reviewing the ALJ decision, | conclude that remand is appropriate. Under the
applicable guidelines, the SSA is required to “explain the weight it gives to the opinions of a
treating physician.”Snell v. Apfel177 F.3d 128, 133 (2d Cir.1998ge als®0 C.F.R. 8§
404.1527(d)(2) [tv]e will always give good reasons in our notice of determination or decision
for the weidnt we give your treating source’s opinion.™Failure to provide ‘good reasonfsir
not credting the opinion of a claimarg’treating physician isground for remand. Snell 177

F.3d at 133.
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In his decision, the ALJ failed to specify the weight he assigmelrnyak’s treating
physicians. Although the Alidentifiesthe weight he assigned to the opinions of Dr. Holmes
and Mancuso, he does not provide that information with regard to Dr. Tinklepaugh, Dr.
Chowdhary, Dr. Salame, or Dr. Gorson. Failure to do so is legal eaDailey v. Barnhart
277 F. Supp. 2d 226, 235 (W.D.N.Y. 2003) (“The ALJ simply does not articulate the reasons for
the weight he assigned, if any, to the opinions of Drs. Kline and LaBkerlapse alone
constitutes legal error and requires that the case be remgnded.
The Second Circuit hdseld thatremand is appropriate when it is uncléam the ALJ s
decisionwhatlegal standarthie or sheisedto determinette weight of a treating physician
opinion?
[Blecause we are unsure exactly what legal standard the Aliécm weighing Dr.
Jobson’s opinion, because application of the correct standard does not lead inexorably to
a single conclusion, and because the Commissioner failed to provide plaintifjeatt “
reasonsfor the lack of weight attributed to her treating physician’s opinion as required
by SSA regulations, we conclude that the proper course is to direct that this case be
remanded to the SSA to allow the ALJ to reweigh the evidence
Schaalv. Apfel 134 F.3d 496, 505 (2d Cir. 1998).
In thiscase, it is not clear what weight the ALJ assigHedhyak’s treating physiciahs
opinions when formulatingerRFC. | conclude that thatrror was not harmless because the
evidence in the record does ntadd inexorablyto a single conclusion.id. The ALJfoundthat

Hornyak could “frequently” finger and feel objects despite her erythromelalgia syspkrat

22. Notes from Hornyak’s treating physicians cast doubt on that conclusion. On April 27, 2015,

4“In determining the amount of weight to give to a medical opinion, the ALJ must considkthallfollowing: the
examining relationship, the treatment relationship, the length of treatmengttite and extent of treatment,
evidence in support of the medical opinion, consistency with the record, specihiéymedical field, and any other
relevant factor§ Dorseyv. Saul 2020 WL 1307107, at *4 (D. Conn. Mar. 19, 202€jjJing 20 C.F.R. §
416.927(c)(1:X6)).
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Dr. Chowdhary noted that pain from Hornyslerythromelalgiavas“quite severe and [could]
last for hours.” R. at 413. On September 4, 2015, Dr. Gorson opined that Hdim@ikite
absolutely classic clinical pattern of episodic swelling, erythema and horrendiolsspiag
minutes to hours to days.” R. 408. Finally, on January 8, 2016, Dr. Tinklepaugh noted that
Hornyak’shad“severe loss of quajitof life” due to her erythromelalgia. R. at 571. Moreover,
the ALJ did not mention Dr. Paggiditreatment historin the decision.

Because the ALJ failed to specify vileeight he assigned to Hornyakreating

physicians’ opiniond, conclude that remand is appropriate.

D. Did the ALJ err in Step 5 of the Sequential Evaluation?

Lastly, Hornyak argues that the ALJ erred in relying on Gaudet’s testimony in response
to questions concerning HornyakRFC. “The hypothetical question proposed by the ALJ to
[Gaudet]which was based on his RFC finding is not based on an accurate portrayal of
[Hornyak’s] impairments and therefore, the ALJ committed error both in posing the hypothetical
andin relying on [Gaudes$] testimony. PI's Mem at 16. In addition, Hornyakiso argues that
Gaudets testimony was in conflietith the DOT. See idat 17. “[T]he DOT description of the
position of storage facility rental clerk does not allow for sitting at will . . . . [Theipoki
require[s]both standing and walking, and cannot be done from a seated positioat17-18.
Finally, Hornyak argues that Gaudet provided inconsistent and contradictory testimony during
the hearing. [A] review of the testimonf} demonstrates that on the date of the hearing
[Gaudet]stated that she was ill, and her iliness appeared to affect her ability to eéfstrtyvely.
[Her] [tlestimony . . . was repeatedly contradictory and inconsistent, and she appednsdad

by the muliple rapidfire hypothetials” Id. at 19.
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For the reasons stated above, remand is appropriate with regard to thegdeksment
of Hornyak's RFCbecausde failed toassignweight to Hornyak’s treating physicians’ opinions.
As a result, the ALJ necessarily also erred at Step Five of the sequential emaidaith did

not incorporate a complete set of Hornyak’s limitations.

V. Conclusion

For the reasons statedjdny the Commissioner’s motion to affirfaoc. no. 15and
grant Hornyak’s motion to reverse (doc. no. 1#)the extent that it asks that | vacate the
decision of the Commissioner. | remand for further development of the record and atiwsider
of the weight to be accorded the various medical opinions provided to the ALJ, consistent with
the foregoing reasoning. The Clerk is further instructed that, if any party subsequentlg appeal
this court the decision made after remand, that Social Security appeal shalgbedssime (as
the District Judge who issued the ruling that remanded the case).

So ordered.
Dated at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 20th day of April 2020.

/s STEFAN R. UNDERHILL

Stefan R. Underhill
United States District Judge
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